

# AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF THE CULTURAL COUNCIL OF GREATER JACKSONVILLE

#### Article I - Name, Location and Fiscal Year

The legal name of this corporation shall be "The Cultural Council of Greater Jacksonville." Its operation shall be conducted in Jacksonville, Florida on a fiscal year basis from October 1 to September 30.

#### Article II - Purposes

The purpose of The Cultural Council is to champion the appreciation, relevance and expression of art and culture throughout the greater Jacksonville area through service to member organizations and the general public as follows:

<u>ACCESS</u>: To assure that all members of the community, whether individuals, artists or organizations have opportunities for participation in cultural activities.

<u>ADVOCACY</u>: To represent and serve the interests of the cultural sector and public at large with energy and integrity; to collaborating with private and public constituencies to expand our collective artistic vision; and to create a community lifestyle that demands art and culture as integral to community identity and meaning.

<u>ARTS EDUCATION</u>: To promote arts education as part of our basic curriculum in schools K-12 and higher; and to act as a catalyst for the development of arts education programs for all members of the community.

<u>AUDIENCE DEVELOPMENT</u>: To develop future audiences through education - children and adults; to provide direction via an ongoing cultural marketing program in the community; and to encourage marketing professionalism among member organizations.

<u>COLLABORATION</u>: To develop strong, strategic community partnerships across the private, public, and nonprofit sectors in order to improve the arts and cultural sector and enhance the greater Jacksonville area's quality of life and the economic impact of the arts

<u>COMMUNICATIONS</u>: To develop a support network and information system among all community cultural agencies, and to provide ongoing information to the general public about cultural activities.

<u>COMMUNITY PLANNING</u>: To serve as the key leadership in advancing the implementation of the Community Cultural Plan.

<u>FACILITY DEVELOPMENT</u>: To act as a catalyst in assessing cultural facility needs in the community and to actively represent those needs in community planning efforts.

<u>FUNDING</u>: To act as community stewards of public and private funding while developing processes, strategies and resources for investments in community change; to increase opportunities and access to financial resources for artists and cultural organizations; to serve in the process of allocating public funds to arts organizations on behalf of the City of Jacksonville and other funding sources; and to increase the awareness of the economic impact of culture in the community.

<u>LEADERSHIP</u>: To lead individuals, families, artists and organizations, businesses and government to unique collaborations that establish art and culture as a key driver of Jacksonville's economy, growth, and quality of life.

<u>ORGANIZATIONAL DEVELOPMENT</u>: To improve The Cultural Council organizational effectiveness, and broaden its human and financial resources, both internally and externally, across multiple constituencies

<u>TAX EXEMPT STATUS</u>: To be organized and operated exclusively for charitable, literary and educational purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code and in furtherance of those purposes and for no other.

- a. No part of the net earnings of the corporation shall inure to the benefit of or be distributable to its members, trustees, officers, or other private persons, except that the corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth above. No substantial part of the activities of the corporation shall be carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise attempting, to influence legislation, and the corporation shall not participate in, or intervene in (including the publishing or distributions, politicians or candidates for political office. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws, the corporation shall not carry on any other activities not permitted to be carried on:
  - By a corporation exempt from Federal Income Tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law), or
  - 2) By a corporation, contributions to which are deductible under Section 170(c)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law).

# Article III - Membership

#### 1. <u>Members</u>

Any corporation, institution, association, individual or other person interested in or associated with artistic or cultural activities in the Jacksonville area shall be eligible for Membership. Membership shall be renewable annually by payment of such dues, assessments and charges as have been determined by the Board of Directors.

#### 2. <u>Voting Rights</u>

Every corporation, institution or association accepted for Membership in The Cultural Council shall appoint, in writing, one delegate who shall cast one vote for their organization. Each individual holding Membership also shall be entitled to one vote. Members exercise their voting rights by electing fifteen (15) directors to represent their interests on the Board of Directors.

#### 4. <u>Termination of Membership</u>

By affirmative vote of two-thirds of the Board of Directors, a member may be suspended, expelled, or terminated at the sole discretion of the Board.

#### 5. <u>Dues</u>

The Directors may establish such dues, assessments and charges as shall be necessary for the support and operation of The Cultural Council.

## Article IV - Meetings

#### 1. <u>Membership Meetings</u>

The Annual Meeting of The Cultural Council will be held in October of each year on the same day as the regular monthly meeting of the Board of Directors is held and at such time and place as the Directors shall determine, for the purpose of electing Directors, informing the members of the impact on the community, encouraging participation in fund raising, and for the transaction of such other business as may come before the meeting.

A Membership meeting will also be held in October of each year following as closely as possible the Cultural Service Grant Program ("CSGP") panel hearings at such time and place as the Directors shall determine for the purpose of reviewing the CSGP panel funding recommendations and for the transaction of such information as may come before the meeting.

### 2. <u>Special Meetings</u>

Special meetings of the Members may be called by the Chair, the Board of Directors, or not less than one-fourth of the members having voting rights.

## 3. <u>Notice of Meetings</u>

- a. Notice of the Annual Meeting shall be given to all Members of The Cultural Council at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting, and shall include the proposed slate of Directors. Notice shall be given in the manner hereafter provided.
- b. Other than the Annual Meeting, notice stating the place, day and hour of any meeting of the Members shall be given to each member entitled to vote at such a meeting, not less than seven (7), or more than thirty (30) days before the date of such a meeting, by or at the direction of the Chair, or the Secretary, or the officers or person calling the meeting. The purpose or purposes for which any meeting is called shall be stated in the notice.

#### 4. <u>Proxy Ballots</u>

Proxy voting will not be allowed.

- 5. <u>Quorums</u>
  - a. At any meeting of the membership, ten (10) of the Members entitled to vote shall constitute a quorum.
  - b. Any meeting, officially called, is an official meeting, whether a quorum is present or not; however, votes or motions shall be official only if a quorum is present or participating via video or telephonic conferencing.
- 6. <u>Manner of Acting</u>

The act of a majority of the members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the members, unless the act of a greater number is required by law or by these Bylaws.

7. <u>Robert's Rules</u>

At all meetings of the Board of Directors and the membership, Robert's Rules of Order (latest edition) shall apply.

## Article V - Board of Directors

1. <u>General Powers</u>

The Board of Directors shall have the usual powers and responsibilities of a board of directors of a membership corporation, and shall govern and direct the affairs of The

Cultural Council. It shall make all rules and regulations that it deems necessary or proper for the governance of The Cultural Council and for the due and orderly conduct of its affairs and management of its property, consistent with its Charter and these Bylaws.

## 2. <u>Number and Term</u>

Board membership shall reflect the diversity within the community served by the Cultural Council. There shall be fifteen (15) Regular Directors of The Cultural Council, having the right of voice and vote; five Ex-officio Directors of The Cultural Council, and such Founder Directors as provided for herein. Terms of regular Directors shall be three (3) years and they shall be elected or appointed in the following manner:

- a. Nine (9) Regular Directors shall be elected by the Members. At each Annual meeting of the Members, three regular Directors shall be elected, on a staggered basis, by the Members to succeed those whose terms shall expire. Each Director shall serve a first term for a period of one (1) year followed by no more than two terms of three (3) years each and thereafter following the expiration of his or her term, until his or her successor has been elected and qualified. Each Director's term, following his or her initial one year term, is conditioned on approval for such a renewal term by the Governance Committee.
- b. The other six (6) Regular Directors shall be appointed by the Mayor of Jacksonville. These respective three (3) year appointments shall be made immediately prior to each Annual meeting and on a staggered basis as existing terms expire.
- 3. <u>Qualifications</u>

Regular Directors must be Members of The Cultural Council and must reside in Greater Jacksonville. No Regular Director shall serve for more than two (2) consecutive three year terms, except this limitation shall not apply to an immediate past Chair serving in an exofficio capacity. Regular Directors shall pay such dues as may be established by the Board of Directors for the support and operation of The Cultural Council. Paid employees of non-profit arts and cultural organizations and institutions shall be eligible for election or appointment as Directors, but at any given time there shall be no more than three (3) such persons serving as Regular Directors. Regular Directors shall not be employed by the Cultural Council.

- 4. <u>Meetings</u>
  - a. Annual Meeting

The Board of Directors shall meet immediately following the Annual Meeting of the Membership to elect officers for the coming year.

b. Regular Meetings

The Board of Directors shall meet at least once a quarter per calendar year, at a time agreed upon by the Board. Minutes shall be recorded and maintained in The Cultural Council's files.

c. Special Meetings

Special Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be by or at the request of the Chair or any two Regular Directors at such a place as shall be designated in the call for such meeting.

#### 5. <u>Notice</u>

Notice of any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given at least one week (7) days prior thereto by hand delivery, postal or email sent tangible or electronic to each Regular Director at the Regular Director's address shown by the records of The Cultural Council. The general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting should be specified in the Notice.

6. <u>Action Without Meeting</u>

Any action required or permitted to be taken by the directors of the Cultural Council at a duly called meeting of the directors of the Cultural Council may be taken by unanimous written consent in lieu of a meeting.

#### 7. <u>Action by Telephonic Communications</u>

Members of the Board of Directors of the Cultural Council may participate in any meeting of directors by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation in any meeting pursuant to this provision shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

#### 8. <u>Quorum</u>

A majority of the members of the Board of Directors duly elected shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of the directors.

#### 9 <u>Vacancies</u>

Any vacancy occurring among the Regular Directors other than by the normal expiration of a term shall be filled by the Board of Directors by majority vote of the Regular Directors present and voting; provided, however, that if such a vacancy shall occur among Regular Directors appointed by the Mayor of the City of Jacksonville, the vacancy so created shall be filled by the Mayor. A Regular Director elected or appointed to fill a vacancy shall be selected for the unexpired term of his predecessor.

### 10. <u>Compensation</u>

Regular Directors shall not receive any compensation for their services, except for reimbursement for any out-of-pocket expenses incurred on behalf of The Cultural Council.

# 11. <u>Removal of Directors</u>

A Regular Director may be removed from office, with or without cause, by a vote of twothirds of the Regular Directors present and voting If one or more Regular Directors is removed as a Director of the Board pursuant to this section, a new Director may be elected at the same meeting to replace each removed Director.

#### 12. <u>Attendance</u>

Any Regular Director absent from three (3) meetings during a fiscal year shall be considered for removal from the Board, unless such absence is excused by the Chair or other executive officer.

#### 13. Nepotism

Nepotism shall not exist between the Board of Directors and staff or within the Board of Directors or within staff members. Directors and members of their immediate families may not hold salaried positions with the Cultural Council. No more than one family member may hold a voting position on the Board of Directors. A family member is considered to be a spouse or domestic partner, child, grandchild, parent, grandparent, sibling, or and step relationships that may exist as a result of a domestic partnership.

#### 14. <u>Conflicts of Interest</u>

Board and staff members shall act in the best interests of the Cultural Council, rather than in the furtherance of personal interests, or in furtherance of personal interests of third parties such as, but not limited to, current or potential grant recipients, current or potential employees, current or potential vendors, and political organizations or candidates. Whenever a director or officer has a financial or personal interest in any matter coming before the board of directors, the affected person shall a) fully disclose the nature of the interest and b) withdraw from discussion, lobbying, and voting on the matter. Any transaction or vote involving a potential conflict of interest shall be approved only when a majority of disinterested directors determine that it is in the best interest of the organization to do so. The minutes of meetings at which such votes are taken shall record such disclosure, abstention and rationale for approval.

Directors or officers shall not be involved in the hiring, firing or compensating of any staff member except as defined in these articles in relation to the Executive Director.

# Ex-Officio Directors

The ex-officio Directors shall be the Mayor, the President of the City Council, the immediate past Chair of The Cultural Council, the Chair of the Duval Delegation to the Florida Legislature, and one Duval County representative to the Florida Arts Council or their appointees. The immediate past Chair of the Cultural Council shall serve with full officer status. The remaining ex-officio Directors shall serve with voice, but without vote.

## Founder Directors

Provision is hereby made for "Founder Directors," to serve in an advisory capacity to the Board of Directors. The Founder Directors shall be Ann Baker, Jacqueline M. Holmes and Helen Lane, and shall serve as long as they are able and willing to do so. Founder Directors shall be with voice but without vote

# Article VI - Officers

## 1. <u>Officers</u>

The Officers of The Cultural Council shall be a Chair, Vice-Chair, a Secretary, a Treasurer, Committee Chairs, the Executive Director and such other officers as the Board of Directors may elect or appoint, such officers to have the authority to perform the duties prescribed from time to time by the Directors.

## 2. <u>Election and Term of Office</u>

The Officers of The Cultural Council shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors immediately following the Annual Meeting of the membership, and shall hold office until their successors shall have been duly elected and qualified. The Officers shall serve no more than two (2) consecutive, annual terms.

#### 3. <u>Removal</u>

The Board of Directors, by a two-thirds vote of the Directors present and voting, may remove any Officer upon evidence of material violation of the Bylaws, public laws, or any regulations or practices of The Cultural Council. The Officer in question shall be entitled to state his case to the Board before such action is taken.

4. <u>Vacancies</u>

The Board of Directors shall fill any Officer vacancy. An Officer elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term of his predecessor in office.

5. <u>Chair</u>

The Chair shall be the principal executive officer of The Cultural Council and shall exercise general supervision and control over its business and affairs. He/She shall preside at all

meetings of the members and of the Board of Directors. He/She shall be responsible for hiring, terminating, reviewing the performance of and recommending compensation for the Executive Director with the approval of the Board of Directors. In general, he/she shall perform all duties incident to the office of Chair and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

### 6. <u>Vice-Chair</u>

There shall be a Vice-Chair who will act in the absence of the Chair. The Vice-Chair shall undertake such activities as will properly prepare him/her to assume the Chair-ship.

#### 7. <u>Secretary</u>

The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors and the members, coordinate with the office of The Cultural Council to insure that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law, and perform all other duties incident to the office of Secretary.

#### 8. <u>Treasurer</u>

The Treasurer shall supervise all funds and securities of The Cultural Council, review reports from the Finance Director of The Cultural Council and accordingly inform the Board of Directors of the financial status of The Cultural Council. The Treasurer shall also be responsible for arranging receipt of any endowments or substantial\_gifts made to, or on behalf of, The Cultural Council. In general, the Treasurer shall perform all the duties incident to the position of Treasurer and should act in a manner consistent with informing the Board of material aspects of the financial activities of The Cultural Council.

#### 9. <u>Committee Chair</u>

In the absence of the Chair and Vice-Chair, or in the event of their inability or refusal to act, a Committee Chair, designated by the Board of Directors or the Executive Committee, shall perform the duties of the Chair, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all restrictions upon the Chair.

#### 10. <u>Executive Director</u>

The Executive Director shall be appointed by the Board of Directors and shall be the principal administrative officer of The Cultural Council, charged with the duties of

effectuating the purposes of the Council, implementing the policies and directives of the Directors, and performing any and all functions necessary and proper to assure that the policies, objectives and aims of The Cultural Council are carried out. The Executive Director shall not be a voting member of the Board.

The Executive Director shall have immediate supervision and active administration of the work and management of the affairs and business of the Cultural Council and all administrative personnel and other staff of the Cultural Council shall be under the supervision of and be responsible to the Executive Director. The Executive Director shall prepare the annual budget of the Corporation and shall submit the annual budget to the Finance Committee for its review and recommendation to the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall maintain and update the Personnel Manual of the Cultural Council and shall submit all changes to the Executive Committee for review and approval. The Executive Director shall have the power to employ, and to terminate the employment of non-salaried employees (employees who are paid on an hourly basis) and salaried employees, and shall have the power to fix the hourly compensation of such non-salaried employees. The Executive Director shall supervise the business operations of the Cultural Council and shall, from time to time, recommend to the Board of Directors changes to the business practices of the Cultural Council. The Executive Director may sign on behalf of the Corporation any documents or instruments that the Board of Directors has authorized to be executed, except in cases where the signing and execution thereof shall be especially delegated by the Board of Directors or by these Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the Cultural Council, or shall be required by law to be otherwise signed or executed. The Executive Director shall make such reports and perform such other duties as from time to time may be required by the Board of Directors. In the absence or inability to act as the Executive Director, the Board shall designate another person to perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Executive Director.

The Chair shall have the authority to establish a search committee to recruit an Executive Director and conduct preliminary interviews. The Chair shall interview the final candidates; he/she, or his/her designee, shall conduct background checks on the final candidate(s). The Chair shall present the final candidate to the Executive Committee for their approval. The Chair shall also have the authority to recommend termination of the Executive Director subject to approval by the Executive Committee.

The Chair shall review the Executive Director's performance and discuss his/her performance with the Executive Director annually, at a minimum. This discussion shall be documented and signed by both the Board Chair and the Executive Director. The Chair shall present any compensation changes to the Executive Committee for approval. The Executive Director shall submit all expenses incurred by him or her to the Chair for approval for reimbursement. The Executive Director shall submit any requests for professional development, conferences or tuition and obtain approval from the Chair prior to the event(s).

If the Executive Director resigns his/her position, he/she shall submit a letter of resignation to the Chair with reasonable notice. If the Chair believes it is necessary to terminate the relationship with the Executive Director, the Chair shall consult with the Executive

Committee to determine if the termination is immediate or if the Board shall request the Executive Director's resignation. If immediate termination is decided, the Chair and the Vice-Chair, jointly, shall inform the Executive Director.

The Cultural Council office shall maintain custody of the corporate records in good order and of the seal of The Cultural Council. It shall keep a register of the addresses of each member for mailing and notification purposes.

## Article VII – Indemnification

#### 1. <u>Indemnification</u>

The Cultural Council shall, and does hereby, indemnify to the fullest extent permitted or authorized by current or future legislation or current or future judicial or administrative decisions (but, in the case of any such future legislation or decisions, only to the extent that it permits the Cultural Council to provide broader indemnification rights than permitted prior to such legislation or decisions) each person (including here and hereinafter the heirs, executors, administrators or the estate of such person) who was or is a party to:

- a. any Proceeding (other than a Proceeding by, or in the right of, the Cultural Council) by reason of the fact that he or she (i) is or was a director, trustee or officer of the Cultural Council, (ii) is or was an employee or agent of the Cultural Council as to whom the Cultural Council has agreed to grant such indemnity (but only to the extent of any such agreement), or (iii) is or was serving, at the request of the Cultural Council, as a director, trustee, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise and as to whom the Cultural Council has agreed to grant such indemnity (but only to the extent of any such agreement), against liability incurred in connection with such Proceeding, including any appeal thereof, if he or she acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Cultural Council and, with respect to any criminal Proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful; or
- b. any Proceeding by, or in the right of, the Cultural Council to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he or she (i) is or was a director, trustee or officer of the Cultural Council, (ii) is or was an employee or agent of the Cultural Council as to whom the Cultural Council has agreed to grant such indemnity (but only to the extent of any such agreement), or (iii) is or was serving, at the request of the Cultural Council, as a director, trustee, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise and as to whom the Cultural Council has agreed to grant such indemnity (but only to the extent of any such agreement), against expenses and amounts paid in settlement not exceeding, in the judgment of the Board of Directors, the estimated expense of litigating the Proceeding to conclusion, actually and reasonably incurred in connection with the defense or settlement of such Proceeding, including any appeal thereof. Such indemnification shall be authorized if he or she acted in good faith and in a manner reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Cultural

Council, provided, that no indemnification shall be made under this clause (b) in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which he or she shall have been adjudged to be liable unless, and only to the extent that, the court in which such Proceeding was brought, or any other court of competent jurisdiction, shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all circumstances of the case, he or she is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses and any amounts paid in settlement which such court shall deem proper.

Indemnification under this Section 1 of Article VII, unless pursuant to a determination by a court, shall be made by the Cultural Council upon a determination in accordance with the relevant Florida statutory provisions that indemnification is proper in the circumstances because the applicable standard of conduct set forth in this section 1(a) or 1(b) of this Article VII has been met.

Each director, trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Cultural Council to whom indemnification rights under this Section 1 of this Article VII have been granted shall be referred to as an "Indemnified Person."

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Article VII, except for Proceedings to enforce rights provided in this Article VII, the Cultural Council shall not be obligated under this Article VII to provide any indemnification or any payment or reimbursement of expenses to any director, trustee, officer or other person in connection with a Proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such Indemnified Person (which shall not include counterclaims or crossclaims initiated by others) unless the Board of Directors has authorized or consented to such Proceeding (or part thereof) in a resolution adopted by the Board of Directors.

- 2. <u>Successful Defense of Proceedings</u>. To the extent that an Indemnified Person has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any Proceeding referred to in Section 1 of this Article VII, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, he or she shall be indemnified against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in connection therewith.
- 3. <u>Insurance.</u> The Cultural Council may purchase and maintain insurance, at its expense on behalf of any person who is or was a director, trustee, officer, employee, or agent of the Cultural Council, or is or was serving at the request of the Cultural Council as a director, trustee, officer, employee or agent of another Cultural Council, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against him or her and incurred by him or her in any such capacity or arising out of his or her status as such, whether or not the Cultural Council would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability under the provisions of this Article VII or the applicable provisions of Florida law.
- 4. <u>Advancement of Expenses</u>. The Cultural Council shall advance expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred in any action, suit or Proceeding by any director, trustee or officer to whom indemnification is provided under Section 1 of this Article VII to the fullest extent allowed and in the manner provided by the laws of the State of Florida; provided, however, that an advancement of expenses shall be made only upon delivery to the Cultural Council of an undertaking by or on behalf of such director, trustee or officer, to repay all amounts so

advanced if it shall ultimately be determined by final judicial decision of a court of competent jurisdiction from which there is no further right to appeal that such director, trustee or officer is not entitled to be indemnified for such expenses. The Cultural Council may advance expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred in any action, suit or Proceeding by other employees and agents of the Cultural Council and persons who are or were serving, at the request of the Cultural Council, as directors, trustees, officers, employees or agents of another Cultural Council, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, to whom indemnification is provided under Section 1 of this Article VII upon such terms or conditions that the Board of Directors deems appropriate.

- 5. <u>Continuation of Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses</u>. Indemnification and advancement of expenses as provided in this Article VII shall continue as, unless otherwise provided when authorized or ratified, to a person who has ceased to be a director, trustee, officer, employee, or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, administrators and estate of such person, unless otherwise provided when authorized or ratified. The rights of any person set forth in this Article VII to indemnification and advancement of expenses are contractual rights and vest at the time a person becomes a director, trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Cultural Council and no amendment to these indemnification provisions and advancement of expenses provisions shall affect any right in respect of acts or omissions of any director, officer, employee or agent occurring prior to such amendment. Any repeal of relevant Florida statutory provisions or any other applicable law shall not in any way diminish any rights to indemnification of such Indemnified Person, or the obligations of the Cultural Council arising hereunder, for claims relating to matters occurring prior to such repeal or modification.
- 6. Indemnification Contracts. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by this Article IX shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those indemnified may be entitled, and the Cultural Council may make any other or further indemnification or advancement of expenses of any of its directors, officers, employees or agents, under any bylaw, agreement, vote of members or disinterested directors, or otherwise, both as to actions in such person's official capacity and as to actions in another capacity while holding such office. However, indemnification or advancement of expenses shall not be made to or on behalf of any director, trustee, officer, employee or agent, if a judgment or other final adjudication establishes that his or her actions, or omissions to act, were material to the cause of action so adjudicated and constitute: (A) a violation of the criminal law, unless the director, trustee, officer, employee or agent had reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was lawful or had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful; (B) a transaction from which the director, trustee, officer, employee or agent derived an improper personal benefit; (C) in the case of a director, a circumstance under which the liability provisions of Section 607.0834 of the Florida Business Corporation Act, are applicable; or (D) willful misconduct or a conscious disregard for the best interests of the Cultural Council in a Proceeding by or in the right of the Cultural Council to procure a judgment in its favor or in a Proceeding by or in the right of a member.
- 7. Savings Clause. If this Article VII or any portion hereof shall be invalidated on any ground by a court of competent jurisdiction, then the Cultural Council shall nevertheless indemnify each Indemnified Person as to expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement with respect to any Proceeding, including an action by or in the right of the Cultural Council,

to the full extent permitted by any applicable portion of this Article VII that shall not have been invalidated and as permitted by applicable law.

# Article VIII – Committees

## 1. <u>Executive Committee</u>

The Executive Committee shall be constituted of the elected Officers of The Cultural Council, other than the Executive Director, the immediate Past Chair of the Council, and such other members of the Board of Directors as the Directors may elect. The Executive Committee may further establish such committees of the Board as may be necessary for the conduct of the business of the Council, including a Finance Committee and a Nominating/Governance Committee. The Chair of the Board of Directors shall serve as Chair of the Executive Committee, the Chair of the Finance Committee will be the Treasurer of the Council, and the Chair of the Nominating/Governance Committee will be the Vice-Chair of the Board of Directors. Appointment of all chairs of the respective committees, unless otherwise noted herein, will be at the discretion of the Chair through the Executive Committee. Appointed committee chairs will serve terms concurrent with the appointing Chair of the Board of Directors and shall be subject to its control. The Board of Directors may from time to time establish such policies and procedures for the governance and structure of such committees as it may deem necessary.

Between meetings of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee shall exercise all of the powers of the Board which may lawfully be delegated in the management of the affairs of the corporation or such lesser powers as may be specified from time to time by the vote of the Directors. It shall meet at the call of the Chair. A majority of the members of the Executive Committee shall constitute a quorum. All actions of the Executive Committee shall be subject to review and approval by the Board of Directors, and Executive Committee shall report all its actions to the Board.

## 2. <u>Finance Committee</u>

The Finance Committee shall be composed of its Chair and no more than four (4) other Directors who shall serve one-year terms. The Chair of the Board of Directors shall appoint the Chair of the Committee and the Committee members with approval by the Board of Directors. All Committee members shall be free of any relationship that, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment as a Committee member or advisor or give the appearance of lack of independence.

The Finance Committee shall:

a. Upon receipt from the Executive Director, review the annual budget of the Corporation and submit the annual budget of the Corporation to the Board for approval.

- b. Review from month to month the fiscal operations of programs and facilities operated by the Corporation and expenditures of all administrative departments to determine whether such expenditures are in accordance with the approved budget.
- c. Review proposed contracts and leases and the placing of insurance to determine whether such agreements are in accordance with the approved budget and, with respect to any such agreements that require approval of the Chair of the Board or the Board , make recommendations to the Chair of the Board or the Board , as the case may be.
- d. Establish procedures governing bank accounts.
- e. Establish investment policies for excess cash, reserve and securities.
- f. Recommend to the Board Certified Public Accountants to conduct an annual audit of the books and records of the Corporation. Meet with the Certified Public Accountants retained by the Corporation (the "Auditors") in advance of the annual audit to discuss with them and to approve, subject to approval by the Board, the scope, schedule, and fees for the annual audit. Meet with the auditors to discuss the annual audit report in advance of submission of the annual audit report to the Board.
- g. Prior to its submission to the Auditors, review management's letter to the Auditors and report to the Board all material matters disclosed in such letter.
- h. Monitor the progress of the organizations Strategic Plan and prepare and report to the board progress and findings.

The Finance Committee shall assist the Board in its fiduciary responsibilities, providing oversight of the Cultural Council's accounting practices and internal control procedures in accordance with appropriate regulatory requirements. The Finance Committee shall provide guidance on financial policies, review and approve the annual budget for submission to the Board of Directors, and review financial statements of the Cultural Council as prepared and presented monthly by the Director of Finance.

## 3. <u>Nominating and Governance Committee</u>

The Nominating and Governance Committee ("Governance Committee") shall be appointed by the Chair, approved by the Board of Directors and may include no more than five Members of The Cultural Council, representing a cross-section of the membership. Committee members will serve one-year terms. The Governance Committee will meet as needed to review organizational bylaws and policies. The Governance Committee will also recommend a slate of officers and new board candidates for Board approval.

## a. Directors

Prior to the Annual Meeting of the membership, the Governance Committee shall prepare a proposed slate of Directors, such slate to contain at least one name for each vacancy to be filled at the Annual Meeting. Members of The Cultural Council shall be entitled to submit names to the Governance Committee for consideration, and the nominees shall be selected by the Governance Committee from among those names and others proposed by members of the Governance Committee. Each of the persons nominated shall have given prior consent to the proposal of his or her name and shall have agreed to serve as a Director if elected and all such nominations shall be placed before the membership at the election to be held at the Annual Meeting. There shall be no nominations from the floor, nor write-in or proxy ballots.

b. Officers and Executive Committee Members

Not less than five (5) days prior to the Annual meeting, the Governance Committee shall prepare and furnish in writing to each of the Directors a proposed slate of Officers. Each of such nominees shall have given prior consent to the proposal of his or her name and shall have agreed to serve in the respective positions if elected by the Board of Directors. There shall be no nominations from the floor, or write-in or proxy voting.

c. Notice of Meetings

Notice of meetings of the Governance Committee for the purpose of electing Directors, stating the time and place of the meeting and the number of vacancies to be filled, shall be given to the membership in the manner hereafter provided at least five (5) days prior to the meeting.

## 4. <u>Cultural Service Grant Program Committee</u>

The Cultural Council shall be responsible for establishing an annual Cultural Service Grant Program Committee, pursuant to Chapter 118, Part 6 of the Ordinance Code of the City of Jacksonville, Florida (hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of these bylaws), in its currently effective form and including any future additions or amendments thereto.

## 5. <u>Development Committee</u>

There shall be a Development Committee whose members shall consist of the Committee's Chair and no more than four (4) other members of the Board of Directors who shall serve one-year terms. The Committee members, including the Chair, shall be appointed by the Chair of the Board of Directors. The Chair of the Board of the Directors may also appoint up to four (4) non board members to serve.

The Development Committee shall assist the Executive Director in establishing and fulfilling a fund-raising strategy which is then approved by the Board of Directors. The Development Committee shall provide guidance and assistance with fund-raising efforts.

## 6. <u>Art in Public Places Committee</u>

There shall be an Art in Public Places Committee of the Cultural Council, pursuant to Chapter 126, Part 9 of the Ordinance Code of the City of Jacksonville, Florida (hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of these bylaws), in its currently effective form and including any future additions or amendments thereto.

7. <u>Committee Appointment</u>

The Chair may appoint such other committees or task force (and chairpersons), as may be required to carry out the purposes of The Cultural Council, said members to serve at the pleasure of the Chair. Committee members are not required to be members of The Cultural Council.

8. <u>Committee Authority</u>

Committees shall have and exercise such authority as the Board of Directors shall determine.

9. <u>Rules</u>

Each committee may adopt rules for its own governance not inconsistent with the Florida Statutes, the Ordinances of the City of Jacksonville and these Bylaws.

10. <u>Quorum</u>

A majority of committee members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the same.

# Article IX - Contracts and Gifts

1. <u>Contracts.</u>

The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or agent to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Cultural Council and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. The Board of Directors may delegate such authorization to such officers of the Cultural Council as they deem appropriate.

2. <u>Checks, Drafts, Etc.</u>

All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Cultural Council shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents of the Cultural Council and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by the Board of Directors.

3. <u>Deposits</u>.

All funds of the Cultural Council shall be deposited promptly to the credit of the Cultural Council in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as the Board of Directors may

select, and withdrawal or disbursement thereof, for investment or other purposes, shall be in accordance with such policies as may be determined by the Board of Directors.

4. <u>Gifts</u>

The Board of Directors may accept on behalf of The Cultural Council any contribution, gift, grant, bequest or devise for the general purposes or for any special purpose of The Cultural Council.

5. <u>Grants</u>

The Executive Director may execute applications, contracts or other documents incidental to the obtaining or administration of grants of money or other things of value from Federal, State or local governments or agencies or from public or private foundations, corporations, institutions or associations.

# Article X - Records and Reports

1. <u>Fiscal Year</u>

The Fiscal year for The Cultural Council shall be from October 1 to September 30.

2. <u>Audit</u>

The accounts of The Cultural Council shall be audited at the end of each fiscal year by a certified public accountant appointed by the Board of Directors, and at such other times deemed necessary by the Board of Directors.

3. <u>Financial Report</u>

A financial report shall be made by the Treasurer at the Board of Directors meetings and annually to the membership.

4. <u>Annual Report</u>

The Chair and Executive Director shall present an Annual Report to the Board of Directors and to the membership at the Annual Meeting, reviewing the activities of the past year and plans for the coming year's activities and programs.

5. <u>Books and Records</u>

The Cultural Council shall keep correct and complete books and records of accounts and minutes of the proceedings of its Directors and members, and all committees appointed by the Directors, and shall keep at its office a record containing the names and addresses of all members entitled to vote. All books and records of The Cultural Council may be inspected

in its office by any member, or his agent or attorney, for any proper purpose at any reasonable time.

### Article XI - Dissolution

Upon the dissolution of the corporation, the Board of Directors shall, after paying or making provision for the payment of all liabilities of the corporation, dispose of all of the assets of the corporation exclusively for the purposes of the corporation in such a manner, or to such organization or organizations organized and operated exclusively for charitable, literary, and educational purposes as shall at the time qualify as an exempt organization or organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law), as the Board of Directors shall determine. Any of such assets not so disposed of shall be disposed of by the Circuit Court of Duval County, exclusively for such purposes or to such organizations or organization, as said court shall determine which are organized and operated exclusively for such purposes.

## Article XII - Notice

Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, required notice of any meeting of the membership, Board of Directors, Executive Committee or any other committees shall be sufficient if the time, place and purpose thereof is printed in a regular publication of The Cultural Council, and shall be deemed to be delivered when such publication is first made available for general distribution. Any notices sent by mail shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the mail addressed to the person entitled to notice at his address as shown on the records of The Cultural Council.

## Article XIII - Amendments to Bylaws

These Bylaws may be amended by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of a quorum of the Regular Directors present and voting at a meeting of the Board of Directors of The Cultural Council, providing that the proposed Amendment has been delivered or mailed to each member of the Board at least one week prior to the date of the meeting. The Board of Directors may suspend or waive provisions of these Bylaws by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Regular Directors of the Cultural Council in such circumstances that the Board of Directors deem necessary and prudent for its own governance not inconsistent with the Florida Statues, the Ordinances of the City of Jacksonville an dthe spirit of these Bylaws.

Adopted: 1973

Approved:

Amended: August 1983 November 1995 September 2000 April 2004 March 2007 February 2015 August 2016 September 2017 April 2018 October 2018